STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
JAN 28 2020
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JONATHAN DONELL RHODES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002605

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellant Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress his cellular telephone records obtained by law enforcement from Sprint in violation of his rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution where law enforcement obtained the records without a warrant and without properly complying with the federal Stored Communications Act?

2.

Did the court abuse its discretion by admitting expert testimony concerning per call measurement data (PCMD), which is an estimate of the distance a cellular telephone is from a cell tower, to show Appellant's telephone was allegedly at or near the location where the murders occurred, when there was insufficient evidence of the reliability of this data?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on May 21, 2013, for two counts of murder, two counts of kidnapping, first degree burglary, and four counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 598-601. His case was called to trial on November 30, 2015 before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. R. 1. Solicitor W. Walter Wilkins and Deputy Solicitor Betty Strom represented the state, and John Kenneth Erwin and Stuart Sarratt represented Appellant. R. 1.

On December 3, 2015, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 583, l. 15 – 584, l. 14. Judge Hayes sentenced him to life without parole for murder and first degree burglary, and five years' imprisonment for each count of the weapons offense. No sentence was imposed for kidnapping pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910. The judge ordered all sentences be served concurrently. R. 585, l. 16 – 586, l. 11.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Helen and Gary Wells were brutally murdered in their home on the night of October 1, 2012. Their housekeeper, Shirley Rogers, discovered the bodies on the morning of October 3, 2012. R. 119, l. 6 – 127, l. 6. Rogers was immediately a suspect in the murders after law enforcement discovered there was an ongoing investigation concerning Rogers' fraudulent use of Helen Wells' debit card. Rogers had been fired by the Wellses approximately two weeks before the murders. The police began a "background investigation" on Rogers, which included obtaining her cellular telephone records. Through this investigation, the police learned that Appellant was a "known associate" of Rogers. R. 194, l. 2 – 195, l. 17. More specifically, law enforcement discovered there had been telephone contact between Rogers and Appellant between September 30, 2012, and October 3, 2012. R. 196, ll. 4-18. Consequently, the Greenville County Sheriff's Office requested Appellant's telephone records from Sprint.¹

After obtaining Appellant's telephone records, law enforcement used the historical call detail information to track Appellant's whereabouts on the night of the murder. The state called Richard Fennern, who was qualified as an expert in historical call detail analysis, to testify at trial concerning this evidence. R. 377, l. 23 – 378, l. 5. Fennern claimed that based on these records at 10:45 pm and 11:02 pm on October 1, 2012, the location of Appellant's telephone was consistent with him being at or near the Welles' residence. He further claimed that the location of Appellant's telephone at 11:45 pm on October 1, 2012 was consistent with him being at or near Shirley Rogers' house. R. 410, l. 8 – 415, l. 8.

¹ The actual subscriber of this telephone was Richard Eric Cade, who was Appellant's "roommate." However, it was undisputed that Appellant was the exclusive user of this telephone. R. 215, ll. 7-8.

Neither Appellant's DNA nor fingerprints were found in the Wellises' house. R. 212, l. 20 – 213, l. 24. However, blood belonging to both Helen Wells and Gary Wells was found in Eric Cade's car that was frequently used by Appellant. R. 469, l. 2 – 477, l. 21.

Based on this circumstantial evidence, the jury ultimately convicted Appellant of murder, kidnapping, and first degree burglary. R. 583, l. 15 – 584, l. 14.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by denying Appellant's motion to suppress his cellular telephone records obtained by law enforcement from Sprint in violation of his rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution where law enforcement obtained the records without a warrant and without properly complying with the federal Stored Communications Act.

Motion and Arguments by Counsel

Appellant moved to suppress his cellular telephone records obtained from Sprint and any testimony related to the records under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. R. 267, l. 25 – 268, l. 4.

Defense counsel explained that law enforcement obtained Appellant's telephone records from Sprint through 18 U.S.C. § 2702, which allows a provider to voluntarily disclose a subscriber's records to law enforcement if law enforcement has "a good faith belief that there is some exigent circumstance that risks danger, imminent danger to somebody's life and safety." Counsel stated that "law enforcement did provide an affidavit which indicated that was the case, and in turn they were provided the records [by Sprint]. The telephone company did choose to voluntarily disclose those." R. 103, l. 14 – 104, l. 2. The exigent circumstance listed by the Greenville County Sheriff's Office to obtain Appellant's records was "[i]nvestigation of a double homicide." R. 270, ll. 13-16; See R. 596.

Counsel argued there were no exigent circumstances that permitted a voluntary disclosure under 18 U.S.C. § 2702. Before requesting Appellant's records from Sprint, the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) conducted a criminal profile and determined that "this was a

personal attack against the Wellses, that there was no broader danger to anyone else, that this was sort of a personalized thing.” See R. 213, l. 25 – 214, l. 6. Consequently, counsel maintained there was no “emergency involving danger of death or serious physical injury to any person” that required voluntary disclosure of Appellant’s records under § 2702. He maintained that the “investigation of a double homicide” was not enough.

Counsel argued law enforcement was required to obtain a court order for the records under 18 U.S.C. § 2703, “which governs compelled disclosures of subscriber information,” including “call detail records.” R. 269, l. 1 – 271, l. 2. He asserted, “[T]he government manipulated the cell phone companies in providing this information voluntarily by misrepresenting and exaggerating the exigency that did not exist. Therefore, the cell phone company was manipulated into acting at the government’s behest. And that manipulation makes the cell phone company an agent of law enforcement, thereby triggering the Fourth Amendment.” R. 271, ll. 3-11.

The state argued Appellant had no “standing” under the Fourth Amendment to challenge law enforcement’s acquisition and use of his telephone records because he had “no contractual relationship with the phone company” since Eric Cade was the actual subscriber. R. 272, l. 23 – 273, l. 4.

Counsel argued the right that Appellant “is seeking to have protected is his right to privacy in his location . . . therefore, it would not matter if the phone was in his name. The phone essentially acts as a tracking device. And as long as it tracks his movements, then he does have the right to privacy. It’s not a right to privacy necessarily in the phone itself, but it’s the signals that are sent off of the towers and bounce back and track his location. That’s what he has a right to privacy in.” R. 273, ll. 8-17. Law enforcement requested four days of records, October

1, 2012, through October 4, 2012. Counsel asserted, “So it would have been four days of essentially surveillance of his location.” R. 273, ll. 18-20.

Lastly, defense counsel argued that even if the court finds Appellant’s rights under the Fourth Amendment were not violated, it could still find Appellant’s right to privacy under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution was violated. Citing State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001), counsel maintained that the South Carolina Constitution “enumerates a specific privacy right that is more limited than the Federal Constitution” and that “[s]tates are free to . . . enhance” their citizens’ rights, and South Carolina has specifically [done so] in its State Constitution.” He concluded that Appellant’s right to privacy under our state constitution was violated by law enforcement’s action in this case. R. 274, l. 22 – 275, l. 9.

Court’s Ruling

The court ultimately ruled Appellant had no “standing.” It stated that “if anyone had any right to privacy in the divulging of those records, it would be Mr. Cade [the actual subscriber]. And of course, he [Eric Cade] has not raised that. He’s not a party. So I’m going to allow the introduction of the records.” R. 275, l. 10 – 276, l. 1. Because the court found Appellant had no expectation of privacy in the records, it made no further ruling on Appellant’s arguments.

Discussion

The trial court erred by denying Appellant’s motion to suppress his cellular telephone records obtained by law enforcement from Sprint in violation of Appellant’s rights under the Fourth Amendment and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina

Constitution. Law enforcement obtained the records without a warrant and without properly complying with the federal Stored Communications Act found in 18 U.S.C. §§ 2702-2712.²

A. Expectation of Privacy Under the Fourth Amendment

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. Amend. IV. “[T]he underlying command of the Fourth Amendment is always that searches and seizures be reasonable.” Wilson v. Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 931 (1995). Protection under the Fourth Amendment is afforded to those who have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978). To demonstrate an expectation of privacy, the defendant must show he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered and the expectation was one that society recognized as reasonable. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351, (1967); Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984). The Fourth Amendment is a personal right and an individual must invoke its protections. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88 (1998).

[I]n order to claim the protection of the Fourth amendment, a defendant must demonstrate that he personally has an expectation of privacy in the place searched, and that his expectation is reasonable; i.e., one that has ‘a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society.’

Id. (quoting Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143-144, and n.12).

The United States Supreme Court created the exclusionary rule to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights. United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338 (1974). The exclusionary rule prohibits the use of evidence obtained directly or indirectly through an unlawful search or seizure under the fruits of the poisonous tree doctrine. See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471,

² The Stored Communications Act was enacted as Title II of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act (ECPA).

484 (1963); See also State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 519 S.E.2d 786 (1999) (finding evidence is not admissible under the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine when the police exploit an unlawful search to seize evidence that would not have otherwise come to light). The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution incorporates the rule excluding evidence obtained through an illegal search or seizure and makes it applicable to the states. Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 655 (1961).

In State v. Drayton, 411 S.C. 533, 769 S.E.2d 245 (2015), this Court held an individual does not have an expectation of privacy pursuant to the Fourth Amendment in his historical cell site location records. However, our Supreme Court held this Court “erred in reaching the novel issue of whether [Drayton] had an expectation of privacy in his HCSLD [historical cell site location data] because . . . the affidavits in support of the warrants [obtained by law enforcement in the case] established probable cause for the search.” State v. Drayton, 415 S.C. 43, 45, 780 S.E.2d 902, 903 (2015). Consequently, our Supreme Court vacated that part of this Court’s opinion in Drayton. Id.

A careful examination of recent United States Supreme Court precedent indicates that an individual has an expectation of privacy in his cellular telephone records, including the call detail records and the historical cell site location records.

The Supreme Court’s recent decision in Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014) supports Appellant’s argument that individuals have an expectation of privacy in cellular telephone records. The Supreme Court held that a search warrant is required to search a cell phone, even when the phone is seized incident to arrest. Id. at 2493. The Court rested its opinion upon the “quantitative and qualitative” difference between cell phones and other items of personal property. Id. at 2489. “One of the most notable and distinguishing features of modern cell phones is their immense storage capacity.” Id. “Cell phones couple that capacity with the ability to store many different

types of information.” Id. One of the Court’s many concerns with cell phones was the ability of the cell phone to allow the reconstruction of the sum of an individual’s private life, including the person’s whereabouts on particular dates. Id. The Court explained “[h]istoric location information is a standard feature on many smart phones and can reconstruct someone’s specific movements down to the minute, not only around town but also within a particular building.” Id. at 2490 (citing United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. 400, 132 S.Ct. 945, 955 (2012) (Sotomayor, J., concurring)).

In City of Ontario, Cal. v. Quon, 560 U.S. 746, 756 (2010), the United States Supreme Court assumed the city employee had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the text messages he sent on his employer-issued pager. However, numerous courts have held that individuals have expectations of privacy in their text messages stored on their cell phones. United States v. Zavala, 541 F.3d 562, 577 (5th Cir. 2008); United States v. Finley, 477 F.3d 250, 259 (5th Cir. 2007); United States v. Davis, 787 F.Supp.2d 1165, 1170 (D. Or. 2011); United States v. Quintana, 594 F.Supp.2d 1291, 1299 (M.D. Fla. 2009); State v. Boyd, 992 A.2d 1071, 1081 (Conn. 2010). Further, courts have found a privacy expectation in text messages stored by the service provider. State v. Clampitt, 364 S.W.3d 605, 611 (Mo. Ct. App. 2012).

In Katz, the United States Supreme Court held the government’s conduct of electronically listening to and recording Katz’s words while he was using a public telephone booth violated his privacy. Katz, 389 U.S. at 353. In other words, individuals have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the content of their telephone conversations, even those taking place on public telephones. Likewise, senders of letters through the mail service have an expectation of privacy in those letters. In Ex Parte Jackson, 96 U.S. 727 (1877), the Court held that “[l]etters, and sealed packages are as fully guarded from examination and inspection, except as to their outward form and weight, as if they were retained by the parties forwarding them in their own domiciles.” In fact,

“[t]he constitutional guaranty of the right of the people to be secure in their papers against unreasonable searches and seizures extends to their papers, thus closed against inspection, wherever they may be.” *Id.* The Court reaffirmed this holding in United States v. Van Leeuwen, 397 U.S. 249 (1970).

Appellant had a reasonable expectation of privacy pursuant to the Fourth Amendment in his cellular telephone records, including the call detail records, the historical cell site location information, and the per call measurement data (PCMD). Certainly, if law enforcement must obtain a search warrant to search a physical cell phone – even when conducting a search incident to arrest – due to the expectation of privacy an individual has in his phone, then law enforcement may not circumvent this warrant requirement by simply going to the cellular service provider seeking the same information. In other words, if an individual has an expectation of privacy in the information contained on his cellular telephone itself, then an individual has an expectation of privacy in the information stored by the cellular service provider.

B. Expectation of Privacy Under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. “In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (citing S.C. Const. art. I, § 10). “In addition to language which mirrors the Fourth Amendment, S.C. Const. art. 1, § 10 contains an express right to privacy: The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and *unreasonable invasions of privacy* shall not be violated.” *Id.* at 644, 541 S.E.2d at 840-841 (emphasis in original).

“The relationship between the two constitutions is significant because ‘[s]tate courts may afford more expansive rights under state constitutional provisions than the rights which are conferred by the Federal Constitution.’” Id. at 643, 541 S.E.2d at 840 (quoting State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 131 n. 13, 489 S.E.2d 617, 625 n. 13 (1997)). “Therefore, state courts can develop state law to provide their citizens with a second layer of constitutional rights.” Id. “This relationship is often described as a recognition that the federal Constitution sets the floor for individual rights while the state constitution established the ceiling.” Id.

In State v. Forrester, our Supreme Court concluded, “The South Carolina Constitution, with an express right to privacy provision included in the article prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures, favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.” Id. at 645, 541 S.E.2d at 841. “By articulating a specific prohibition against ‘unreasonable invasions of privacy,’ the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution.” State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007) (citing Forrester, 343 S.C. at 644-645, 541 S.E.2d at 841).

Several cases in South Carolina discuss the right to privacy contained in Article I, § 10 of our state constitution. The most comprehensive discussions of the right to privacy are contained in State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001), State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 649 S.E.2d 479, (2007), and State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015). See Counts, 413 S.C. at 167, 776 S.E.2d at 67.

In Forrester, the defendant was approached by law enforcement for questioning after an officer observed her exhibiting suspicious behavior at a local train station. According to the officer, he identified himself to Forrester who agreed to let him search her luggage. Because

Forrester was clutching her purse tightly, the officer asked to search the purse. Without surrendering possession, Forrester opened the purse to allow the officer to look inside. The officer took the purse and tore open the lining at which time he found crack cocaine. Forrester, 343 S.C. at 640-641, 541 S.E.2d at 839. On appeal, Forrester argued she had not given the officer consent to search her purse, and thus, the crack cocaine was discovered in violation of the right to privacy provision found in Article I, § 10 of our state constitution. She also argued that the officer's failure to inform her of her right to refuse consent to a search of her purse invalidated the search. Id. at 641, 541 S.E.2d at 839.

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