**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
The Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JONATHAN D. RHODES,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2015-002605

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 68383

South Carolina Office of Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0265

W. WALTER WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Circuit  
305 East North Street

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

Following the testimony, Appellant argued the PCMD indicating the distance from the tower to a particular area (the arc) should not be admitted because it lacked reliability. Defense counsel summarized the position with the following:

And as you’ve heard, the argument’s fairly simple, Sprint creates the records. Agent Fennern interprets those records. And Sprint says the records are not accurate and, therefore, they are not reliable.

(R. p. 91, lines 12-23.)

The solicitor pointed to the forty-six members of the FBI's CAST unit that use their extensive training to peer review each other's work. CAST members have testified over eight hundred times across the country and in various courts. (R. p. 93, line 20 – p. 94, line 2.) The solicitor argued the FBI's training and expertise in the area allowed the CAST unit to interpret the data accurately within a specified range and using only the reliable data from the PCMD. (R. p. 94, lines 11-23.) The three calls made in a reasonably short period of time (10:45, 11:02 and 11:02) corroborated the accuracy of the data because the three calls charted within the same sector. (R. p. 94, line 24 – p. 95, line 10.) Further, Agent Fennern testified he examined cell phone data almost every day with the methods employed by the CAST unit since its inception in 2005. (R. p. 95, lines 7-17.)

The Court ruled the evidence was admissible, finding the analysis was sufficiently peer reviewed by the CAST unit, that the analysis had been previously used in hundreds of cases prior to Appellant's and that Agent Fennern has testified in twenty cases prior, that the certification and training process ensured adequate quality controls and procedures, and that the application of mathematical formulas to the data provided was consistent with scientific laws and procedures. (R. pp. 95 – 98.) The court found the disclaimer language used by Sprint was not probative of the data's reliability. (R. p. 98, lines 9-15.)

#### Analysis

In determining whether to admit expert testimony, the court must make three inquiries. First, the court must determine whether “the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.” *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). Second, the expert must have “acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter,” although he

“need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field.” *Id.* Finally, the substance of the testimony must be reliable. *Id.* In the case before the court, neither the State nor the defense seriously disputed whether the subject matter of historical cell site information was beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury or whether Agent Fennern would qualify in as an expert in the field of CSLI analysis. Appellant does not challenge the reliability of the cell tower and sector information, which indicates which tower received the signal and from what direction the signal originated. Instead, Appellant only challenges the reliability of the PCMD (the arc), which was used to calculate the approximate distance between the cell tower and the cell phone. (FBOA at p. 22.)

While a challenge to an opinion's reliability generally goes to weight and not admissibility, the trial court acts as a gatekeeper in vetting its reliability and deeming the testimony admissible. *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012). If the proffered testimony is scientific in nature, then the circuit court must determine its reliability per the factors set forth in *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999). Under *Council*, the court must consider the following: “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” *Id.* at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 517.

The trial court correctly identified this standard, and specifically applied the *Council* factors to the testimony given at the pretrial hearing. (R. pp. 106- 110.) A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006); *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). Appellant cannot show the trial court abused his discretion in

finding the expert testimony admissible, particularly when the court's decision comports with numerous state and federal jurisdictions reaching the same conclusion.

With particularity, Appellant objects to the testimony concerning the per call measurement data (PCMD). Appellant argues the data is unreliable because the service provider cannot guarantee the accuracy of the data and will not disclose how it is determined. (IBOA at p. 28.). He also argues "it is impossible to determine the quality control procedures used by Sprint to ensure the reliability of PCMD or the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures." (IBOA at p. 28.) Appellant's argument fails for several reasons.

First, Agent Fennern testified how he determined the direction of the v- shaped sectors based on the shape of the antennas on the cell tower and accounting for a deviation of approximately one hundred twenty degrees on either side. (State's Ex 103 at 3-4.) The records obtained pursuant to the voluntary disclosure specify the cell tower and sector the cell phone connected to at the beginning and end of each call. Additionally, the service providers release lists of their cell towers to law enforcement and maintain an updated website, which includes the location of the cell towers, with GPS coordinates for each tower, and the specifications for each of the sectors of the towers. By combining these resources, Agent Fennern plotted on a map the location of the precise cell tower and sector that the phones connected to for each phone call and the direction and width (i.e., 120°) of each sector. (State's Ex 103 at 9-11.) Agent Fennern, as well as the other members of the CAST unit, obtain extensive training in their field and have access to the principle engineers at the service providers to better understand their networks. Fennern explained that his analysis is subject to the peer review of his fellow team members before he testifies about a case, and the members of CAST have testified over 800 times in courts throughout the country. Agent Fennern also testified CAST has validated the location of a phone

after a specific event by doing a drive test to ensure the accuracy of their analysis. (R. p. 9, lines 21-25.) Fennern has also compared his results to GPS coordinates in instances in which a defendant would be wearing an ankle bracelet, for example. (R. p. 10, lines 9-16.) Moreover, any data CAST deemed unreliable, such as latitude and longitude, is excluded from his calculations. Clearly CAST utilizes various quality control procedures to ensure the accuracy and reliability of its data. Thus, the first and third *Council* factors are satisfied.

Concerning the second Council factor, the use of cell phone location records to determine the general location of a cell phone has been widely accepted by numerous state and federal courts. *See, e.g., People v. Fountain*, 62 N.E.3d 1107, 1124 (Il App. (2<sup>nd</sup>) 2016) (“the use of cell phone location records to determine the general location of a cell phone is not ‘new’ or ‘novel’ and has been widely accepted as reliable by numerous courts throughout the nation”); *People v. Powell*, 2015 WL 9590347 (Il App (5th) 2016) (“[t]his methodology has consistently been deemed reliable and has been widely accepted by numerous courts”); *Stevenson v. State*, 112 A.3d 959, 968 (Md.Ct.Spec.App.2015) (holding that the circuit court properly declined to conduct a *Frye* hearing into the use of call detail records to determine the time and location of defendant's cell phone's connection to particular cell towers and noting the technique's reliability and wide acceptance by numerous courts); *United States v. Schaffer*, 439 Fed.Appx. 344, 347 (5th Cir.2011) (concluding that the field of “historical cell site analysis” was “neither untested nor unestablished”); *United States v. Dean*, 2012 WL 6568229, at 5 (N.D.Ill. Dec. 14, 2012) (finding that expert testimony relating to cell site records was reliable and would assist the trier of fact to determine a fact at issue, and noting that “such testimony is generally accepted in the Seventh Circuit”); *United States v. Fama*, 2012 WL 6102700, at 3 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 10, 2012) (noting that “[n]umerous federal courts have found similar testimony reliable and admissible”

(internal quotation marks omitted)). Further, Agent Fennern had extensive experience in this well-established field, and the methodology used by the CAST unit has had extensive prior application in state and federal courts. *United States v. Jones*, 918 F. Supp. 2d 1, 5 (D.D.C. 2013).

Lastly, as the Court noted, the method utilized by Agent Fennern and the CAST unit relies on numeric formulas calculated by the software in mapping out the sectors. The method required no engineering expertise, instead relying on knowledge of radio frequencies and math. Thus, the method of charting the PCMD, particularly as performed by Agent Fennern and the CAST unit, is based upon recognized scientific laws and procedures.

Overall, Agent Fennern's testimony relating to the location of the cell towers, the sectors used for each call, and the general location where the cell phones must have been when they connected to each tower, are the product of reliable principles and methods. Fennern's analysis demonstrates that he reliably applied that methodology to the facts of this case, and thus his testimony meets the reliability standards required under Rule 702, SCRE, and *Council*. Moreover, to the extent Agent Fennern's testimony relies on assumptions about the strength of the signal from a given cell tower or obstacles causing delay in frequency transmission, any challenges to those assumptions go to the weight of his testimony, not its reliability. The mere existence of factors affecting cell signal strength that the expert may not have taken into account goes to the weight of the expert's testimony and is properly the subject of cross-examination, but does not render the fundamental methodology of cell site analysis unreliable. *See, e.g., Berkeley Elec. Co-op, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 304 S.C. 15, 20, 402 S.E.2d 674, 677 (1991) (Where the expert's testimony is based upon facts sufficient to form the basis for an opinion, the trier of fact determines its probative value.); *King v. Burlington N. Santa Fe Ry. Co.*, 762 N.W.2d

24, 44 (2009) (“Once the expert has established that he or she reliably assessed the data, the weight of the expert's conclusion is an issue for the jury to resolve.”) Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the testimony reliable and therefore admissible.

#### Harmless Error Analysis

“To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or lack thereof.” *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 418 (2011). “An appellate court generally will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). “In applying the harmless error rule, the court must be able to declare the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial and the court must be able to declare such belief beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 165, 467 S.E.2d 272, 277 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” *State v. Chavis*, 412 S.C. 101, 109–10, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015). The factors for consideration in any harmless error analysis include:

the importance of the witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecutions’ case.

*Delaware v. Van Ardsall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986).

In Appellant’s case, the remaining evidence of his guilt conclusively proved Appellant acted in concert with his girlfriend Shirley Rogers when they confronted Gary and Helen Wells

at their home and murdered them. Notwithstanding Agent Fennern's testimony concerning the historical cell location information, including the per call measurement data, the jury considered the following evidence presented at trial:

- 1) The nature of crime scene, giving rise to the inference of two killers, specifically
  - a) the number of wounds and brutality of the crime (R. p. 597);
  - b) the disparate wounds on the victims (R. pp 246-256);
  - c) the disparate locations of the victims when each was murdered (R. pp. 125-126);
- 2) The development of Shirley Rogers as culprit with motive and Rhodes as her only likely accomplice, proven by the following:
  - a) the victims' blood in mini cooper (R. pp. 434-472);
  - b) pictures of two of them in mini cooper (State's Ex 150)
  - c) the photographs, calls, and texts to each other surrounding the time of the murders (State's Exhibit 103, State's Ex. 93);
  - d) the nature of their romantic relationship (State's Ex. 93);
- 3) The testimony of Eric Cade about Appellant's unavailability the night of the murder and his changing story about his whereabouts that night; and (R. pp. 294-312);
- 4) Most importantly, the testimony of jailhouse informant Curtis McLeod, who corroborated:
  - a) the vehicle driven to the scene of the murder (R. p. 503);
  - b) the words spoken by the victims to Rogers before she and Rhodes forced them back inside (R. pp. 503-504);
  - c) the separation of the victims into two bedrooms (R. pp. 504-505);

- d). the wounds to the victims inflicted by knives and, specifically, a .32 caliber gun (R. pp. 504-506); and
- e) the description of the items stolen, i.e., jewelry and bank cards. (R. p. 506, lines 11-17.)

When considering the totality of the evidence presented by the State, the admission of the CSLI, if the Court were to find error, could not have affected the outcome of the trial and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The defense explained the presence of the phone near the Wells home by suggesting Appellant left the phone in the car, which was then driven by Shirley Rogers when she murdered Gary and Helen Wells. This defense similarly explained the victims' blood in the Mini Cooper. The CSLI placed Appellant's **belongings** near the scene of the crime, and perhaps could have been a plausible explanation. However, the sheer brutality of the crime scene and the informant's testimony corroborating the evidence placed Appellant **physically** at the scene. Given the amount of circumstantial evidence linking Appellant to the murders, any testimony concerning the location of his cell phone is unnecessary to reach the same conclusion. *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 356, 751 S.E.2d 645, 662 (2013) ("Because the improper admission of hearsay constitutes reversible error only when it results in prejudice, it is our view [defendant] has failed to show he was prejudiced, and thus, has failed to show reversible error.")

As a result, any error in Agent Fennern's testimony on the CSLI proves harmless. Should this Court find the CSLI is admissible but the PCMD is not, the harmless error analysis favors the State even more. The arc indicated by the PCMD certainly gives rise to the inference of Appellant's guilt. On the other hand, the v-shaped sectors reflecting the location of the pinged cell towers (which are not challenged in Appellant's Issue II) also chart Appellant's approximate location on the night of the murders (See State's Ex. 103 at 17-19.)

Thus, even if the Court were to determine the trial court abused its discretion in admitting all or part of the historical cell site location information, Appellant's guilt is clear from the all the other State's evidence proving conclusively that Appellant aided his girlfriend in the murder Helen and Gary Wells.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.